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i

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant Frank Peake respectfully requests oral argument because it will assist

the Court in understanding the multiple complicated and serious legal issues presented

in this appeal.
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1

STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER & APPELLATE JURISDICTION

The district court had jurisdiction pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3231.  This Court has

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291 and 18 U.S.C. § 3742. 

The jury delivered its verdict on January 29, 2013. D.E.189.  The district court

entered the Judgment on December 6, 2013. D.E.234. The appeal from a final order

was timely filed on December 20, 2013. Appx 37.*

* Citations to the Appendix are designated as Appx #, to the Appendix
Supplement Under Seal as Appx-S #, and to the Addendum as Add #.
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-2-

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether Peake should be granted a new trial due to the district court’s failure
to transfer venue, followed by the Government’s repeated argument and
introduction of evidence that the conspiracy had a harmful effect on the jurors
themselves.

II. Whether Peake should be granted a new trial due to the Government’s
introduction of evidence seized from Peake’s personal electronics, when the
search warrant expressly disallowed a search of these electronics.

III. Whether Peake should be granted a new trial because he was denied his theory
of defense instruction.

IV. Whether Peake should be granted a new trial because the district court failed
to give required guidance to the jury or grant a mistrial after the jury twice
stated that it was deadlocked.

V. Whether the case should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction due to the
Government’s failure to allege or prove that Puerto Rico is a state.

VI. Whether Peake should be resentenced due to improper application of the
volume of commerce guideline.
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-3-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal presents an opportunity to correct numerous errors committed

during the trial and sentencing of a well-regarded shipping company senior executive

who was wrongly implicated, after the fact, by cooperating witnesses looking for a fall

guy in order to mitigate their own punishment for their unquestionable wrongs.  There

is no question that an antitrust conspiracy existed among these men.  The question at

Frank Peake’s trial was only whether he was involved.  Frank Peake was entitled to

a fair trial to prove that he was not, and he did not get one.  His conviction and

sentence should be reversed.

Background of Frank Peake

Frank Peake is a 53 year old father of three children, the son of a police officer

and a stay-at-home mom. D.E.239 at 38-39.  He holds a Master’s Degree in Business

Administration and a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting. Appx-S 82. After a long

career in the international shipping industry, he was hired in 2003 as the Chief

Operating Officer of Sea Star Line, and named President shortly thereafter. Appx-S

82.

Peake’s responsibilities included not only oversight of Sea Star’s Puerto Rican

shipping operation (the subject of this case), but many other aspects of the business.
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He oversaw eight different departments, of which the Puerto Rican operation was just

one.  D.E.179 at 39, D.E.182 at 32.

The Conspiracy and Conspirators

Most of Puerto Rico’s commercial and retail commodities are purchased in the

United States or elsewhere and arrive via water transportation.  As a result of a U.S.

law prohibiting any non-U.S. company from providing freight shipping services

between the United States and Puerto Rico, in the early 2000's only five companies

provided such services. Appx-S 59.  These companies charged their customers a price

consisting of a base rate and various surcharges including the “bunker surcharge”

which related to fuel cost.  Id.  One of these companies, Navieras de Puerto Rico, was

facing bankruptcy and began cutting rates substantially.  As a result, all of the

companies engaged in a rate war that drastically reduced prices below costs and

threatened the existence of all of the companies. Id.

In 2002, Navieras went bankrupt.  Id.  With supply reduced, the remaining

carriers were able to raise rates and began doing so in an effort to get prices back to

a sustainable level.  D.E.182 at 34-36.  Seeking to maximize this opportunity, in early

2002 certain executives at Horizon Lines and Sea Star Line agreed upon an

anticompetitive arrangement by which they would decline to undercut each other on

prices and would instead compete solely on service.  D.E.154 at 43-44.  Long before
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Peake joined Sea Star, the conspiracy between these other executives was under way.

D.E.157 at 149; D.E.160 at 174-175.

The Search Warrant

On April 16, 2008, the Government submitted an Application and Affidavit for

Search Warrant to Magistrate Judge James R. Klindt in Jacksonville, Florida.  Appx-S

8. The Application sought authority to search Sea Star headquarters and to seize

records and computers.

The Magistrate expressly disallowed a search of some of the items requested

by the Government, crossing out the following paragraph: 

[T]he search will include the briefcases, laptop computers, hand-held
computers, cell phones, Blackberries, and other movable document
containers found on the premises described above, and in the possession
of, or readily identifiable as belonging to Sea Star management, pricing,
and sales personnel including, but not limited to, FRANK PEAKE,
PETER A. BACI, CARL FOX, NED LAGOY, NEIL PERLMUTTER,
ALEX CHISHOLM, MIKE NICHOLSON, EDWARD PRETRE, and
WILLIAM BYRNES. 

Appx-S 3. As a result of this manual cross-out, which the Magistrate initialed in four

places, he expressly prohibited the Government from searching or seizing these items.

The Magistrate also made other line edits throughout the document reflecting his

careful consideration of the Government’s requests and his intent to narrow and
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restrict the Government’s search.  In addition, he hand-wrote a 30 day time limitation

to complete the search of electronics. Id.

The FBI Raid

The next day, the Government executed its search.  Notwithstanding that the

warrant expressly disallowed seizure of laptop computers and Blackberries “in the

possession of, or readily identifiable as belonging to . . . FRANK PEAKE,” the agents

seized Peake’s personal laptop and his Blackberry.  D.E.87. Several hours later, the

Government returned these items to Peake.  However, without any legal authority (or

notice), it first imaged them and kept an electronic copy of their contents. Id.

The same day, the Government conducted a lengthy interview of Greg Glova,

one of the primary conspirators at Horizon. Glova gave the agents detailed

information about how the conspiracy operated and who its participants were.

D.E.155 at 131-133. Based on this information, the FBI prepared a written statement

summarizing Glova’s interview, which named a number of participants. Id. at 133,

150-151. Glova was given the opportunity to review and amend the statement, and he

made a number of changes and then adopted it.  Id. at 133-135, 142, 145-6.  Peake’s
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name did not appear in the statement; he was not mentioned in the initial form drafted

by the FBI nor in Glova’s handwritten modifications.  Id. at 134-135, 146-147.1

In addition, on behalf of the FBI, Glova made at least six recorded calls to

conspirators, seeking to implicate them.  D.E.155 at 131-133, 154-162. He did not

attempt to contact Peake. Id. at 162.

Conspirators’ Proceedings

In 2008, the Government charged four individuals (including Glova) with

antitrust violations and one individual with obstruction, all related to the identical

conspiracy at issue in the instant case.  Peake was not charged. These five cases each

were heard in the Middle District of Florida (Jacksonville Division) before the

Honorable Timothy Corrigan. 

The five defendants entered plea agreements pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(c)

agreeing to specific guidelines calculations.  The plea agreements bound the court,

leaving open only the potential for an additional reduction for substantial assistance.

The judge held two status conferences to consider these Rule 11 plea

agreements, and stated concern about accepting the pleas:
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The Court will resolve its questions as to whether it should accept the
plea agreements in these cases.  One of the reasons not to accept the plea
agreements, which essentially seek to bind the Court concerning the
sentences to be imposed, is that without knowing the full scope of the
government’s case, including future defendants to be charged, the Court
may be agreeing to certain sentences that in retrospect will appear
inappropriate.

United States v. Baci, 3:08-cr-00350-TJC (M.D. Fla. January 30, 2009), D.E.9

(emphasis added).

After much hesitation, Judge Corrigan accepted the pleas.  Peter Baci (a long

term Sea Star employee), was the first to be sentenced.  Baci agreed to an offense level

of 29 (87 to 108 months).  The judge, still concerned about the limitations of the plea

agreement and the severity of the lengthy sentence required therein, again pushed

back, addressing the Government as follows:

[Y]ou know, you’re the Department of Justice.  I assume you’re trying
to seek justice.  And I’m interested just to know generally from you, are
these sentences markedly more harsh than the typical antitrust sentence
that y’all have been giving out the last period of time? . . . . [U]nder
3553(a), I am supposed to consider whether there are unwarranted
sentencing disparities amongst similarly situated defendants. . . . I don’t
want to feel like I’m being led down a path that is not a just path. . . . and
so I think it’s a fair question for me to ask you before I pronounce
serious sentences on these defendants in these cases, is this – is this
consistent with past policy, consistent with past sentences?

D.E. 9. Proceedings on January 30, 2009.  The Government ducked the court’s

question regarding consistency with past sentences entirely.  In his response, the
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prosecutor merely asserted that the sentence was just, that the Government could have

brought additional charges resulting in an even higher calculation of the guidelines,

and that the volume of affected commerce was very large. Id.  Baci received a six-

level reduction for his substantial assistance to the government, resulting in a sentence

of 48 months.

That evening, DOJ issued a press release with the sub-heading “Sentence is

Longest Jail Term Ever Imposed for a Single Antitrust Violation.”  At the subsequent

sentencing hearing of the remaining defendants, the judge returned to the same

inquiry, referenced the Government’s prior response, and stated:

[Y]ou gave me an answer.  It was a fairly long answer.  It had a lot of
qualification to it.

What it didn’t have was any statement which would have told me, in
anywhere close to these terms, that the sentence that I was being asked
to give Mr. Baci was, quote, the longest jail term ever imposed for a
single antitrust violation, close quote. . . .

The government then tried to explain that Baci’s sentence was not unique, given

the facts.  Judge Corrigan replied:

[O]f course it is.  Of course it is.  It’s the longest jail term ever imposed
for a single antitrust violation.  And, by the way, it’s the longest sentence
on an individual – it was the first time an individual was ever sentenced
to more than three years for a single charge. . . . 

Well, let me tell you how I felt when I read [the press release]. . . . I felt
like I had asked you a direct question and you had equivocated, and then
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you left this courtroom and issued a press release  . . . I felt like – that I
had not been dealt with in the straightforward manner that I would
expect from an attorney from the Department of Justice. That’s how I
felt.

United States v. Serra, 3:08-cr-00349-TJC (M.D. Fla. May 12, 2009), D.E.44.

The Indictment

Despite the fact that the allegations against Peake were identical to the charges

against the other defendants, Peake was not arrested or charged for more than three

years, after all the other defendants had pled guilty and agreed to cooperate.  In 2011,

the Government obtained an Indictment charging Peake with a single count of

conspiracy to suppress and eliminate competition in violation of the Sherman Act,

Title 15 U.S.C. §1.  It alleged that from late 2005 through April 2008, Peake

participated in the same conspiracy to which the other conspirators had already pled

guilty.

Motion for Change of Venue

Even though the Government had investigated Peake with a Jacksonville grand

jury, and even though the same division of the U.S. Department of Justice and two of

the same trial attorneys who brought the case against the other conspirators in

Jacksonville were now bringing nearly identical charges against Peake, the

Government chose to indict Peake in Puerto Rico rather than Jacksonville.

Case: 14-1088     Document: 00116723600     Page: 21      Date Filed: 08/07/2014      Entry ID: 5844022



-11-

This decision appeared to be motivated by the Government’s desire to avoid

appearing before the judge who had felt misled by the Government during Baci’s

sentencing.  This fact, coupled with the substantial inconvenience of proceeding in

Puerto Rico, caused Peake to move for a change of venue pursuant to Fed. R. Crim.

P. 21(b). D.E.16.  In his motion, Peake explained that he lived and worked in

Jacksonville throughout the relevant time period, that Sea Star’s headquarters were

located in Jacksonville, that the alleged anti-competitive meetings took place near

Jacksonville, that there were no allegations that criminal activity took place in Puerto

Rico, and that the vast majority of potential witnesses lived in or near Jacksonville.

Id.

In the very first line of its response, the Government set forth that its theory of

the case would be that Puerto Rico was the “singular focus of one of the largest

domestic price-fixing conspiracies ever investigated by the United States.”  D.E.31 at

1.  The Government argued that Peake was part of a massive “Puerto Rico conspiracy”

whose objective was to victimize the citizenry of Puerto Rico, and that “[b]illions of

dollars of Puerto Rico freight services were affected,” that “[n]early every product

sold in Puerto Rico that comes from the continental United States” was subject to the

conspiracy, and that the Puerto Rico conspiracy “targeted any company that shipped

goods to or from Puerto Rico.” Id. at 1, 11-12 (emphasis added).  
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Upon learning that the Government intended to focus its case on the adverse

consequences of Peake’s alleged actions on the members of the jury themselves,

Peake added a motion for a change of venue pursuant to Rule 21(a), arguing that

Peake could not obtain a fair and impartial trial in Puerto Rico. D.E.33. See also

D.E.51.  The district court denied both motions. Add 45, 61.

Motion to Suppress Personal Electronics

In response to the Government’s unauthorized seizure of his personal laptop

and Blackberry, Peake also moved to suppress material taken from these electronics.

D.E.76.  Shortly after Peake filed the motion, and unbeknownst to Peake, the

Government sought and obtained an ex parte warrant to examine the contents of the

items that the Government had imaged without authority four years earlier.  Rather

than seeking the warrant from the Jacksonville court which had initially authorized the

search, or from the district court in Puerto Rico which at that very moment was

hearing Peake’s case and the motion related to this very search, the Government

instead secretly went to a judge in Washington, D.C. who had no familiarity with or

involvement in the case.  Upon learning of the Government’s actions, Peake filed an

emergency motion for protective order seeking to bar the Government from examining

the material.  D.E.86.  The Government opposed Peake’s motions, D.E.87, and the

district court denied the motions.  Add 78.
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The Trial

Trial began on January 10, 2013.  The first words uttered by the Government

in its opening were that “shipping is very important in Puerto Rico.”  D.E.239 at 18.

The Government then stated in the first minute that “[f]ood for Pueblo Supermarket,

medicine at Walgreens, most things at Walmart, most things made in Puerto Rico for

sale in the states” are transported by water shipment. Id.  It followed up by arguing

that prices for Burger King, Office Max, and Walgreens were all higher as a result of

the conspiracy. Id. at 21.  It drove the point home by telling the jury that these

businesses passed the price increases on to their customers.  Id. at 25.  And then it

went so far as to state that because the Government had to pay more for shipping, it

“had less money in the school luncheon program to buy food for school children.”

Id. at 26.  Peake moved, unsuccessfully, for a mistrial as a result of these improper

arguments. Id. at 49; D.E.153, 161; Add 72.

The Government called three of the conspirators who had pled guilty and

received reduced sentences as a result of their pledges of assistance.  As they had

promised the Government they would, each of them testified that Peake was aware of

and participated in the conspiracy.  Each also admitted a host of facts that supported

Peake’s innocence.
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The first witness, Greg Glova, worked at Horizon.  He testified that he

communicated frequently with Peter Baci at Sea Star, D.E.154 at 48, but that he never

communicated with Peake by phone or email during the three years Glova was

involved in the conspiracy2. Id. at 59; D.E. 157 at 56.  He also testified that he and

Baci had secret gmail accounts that they used to communicate about the conspiracy,

but Peake did not.  D.E.154 at 60.  Nor was Peake copied on the secret conspiracy

emails between Glova and Baci.  Id. at 56.  Glova testified that he had maintained

detailed daily journals in which he documented his conspiracy-related

communications.  D.E.155 at 168-172; G.Ex.85.  He was not able to identify any

reference in these journals to Peake. Id.

During Glova’s testimony, Peake sought to admit Glova’s signed statement

which purported to summarize the information Glova provided the FBI and which did

not mention Peake.  The district judge wrongfully excluded the statement.  D.E.155

at 143-144, 166-167.  Subsequently, the judge excluded the FBI 302 of the interview
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which documented 16 people Glova had identified during the interview, none of

whom were Frank Peake.  D.E.183 at 3-10; D.Ex. 451. 

The second testifying conspirator was Peter Baci, Peake’s subordinate at Sea

Star, who admitted to being one of the masterminds of the conspiracy and the primary

Sea Star participant.3 E.g., D.E.157 at 135, 150; D.E.160 at 152.  Baci confirmed that

Peake did not have a secret gmail account.  D.E.160 at 8.  He also explained that while

Sea Star and Horizon had improperly agreed to split the Florida business 50/50, Sea

Star had a preexisting, legitimate internal goal of a 50/50 split which Peake

participated in discussing and which was not anticompetitive.  D.E.160 at 171-174.

He admitted that Peake had instituted a number of plans and policies which were

inconsistent with the conspiracy’s goals, including the “slap strategy” pursuant to

which Sea Star would aggressively pursue the business of any company which took

Sea Star’s business away.  D.E.160 at 175-176.  Baci acknowledged that Peake pushed

hard for Sea Star to acquire a third ship to operate from Jacksonville to Puerto Rico,

which would have affected the 50/50 split to which Baci had agreed.  D.E.179 at 4-12;

D.Ex.137,141.
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Like Glova, Baci kept detailed journals regarding his conspiratorial

communications and meetings – 29 notebooks in total.  D.E.160 at 155-159; D.E.240

at 53.  Like Glova, Baci could not identify a single reference in any of his journals to

conspiratorial communications with Peake.  (In fact, Peake is not mentioned in any

of these notebooks in relation to any conspiratorial communications.  See, e.g., D.Ex.

13, 18, 19, 20, 29, 31, 23).  By contrast, the other conspirators (including at least one

the Government declined to charge) were repeatedly referenced.  D.E.160 at 157.

Baci also admitted that he had not made any reference to Peake in his detailed

sentencing memorandum which purported to document the conspiracy and the

participants.  D.E.179 at 51-56; D.Ex.454.

The third conspirator called by the Government was Gabriel Serra, the senior

executive responsible for Horizon’s Puerto Rican operations.  D.E.180 at 44.  Serra

(who, like the others, received a sentence reduction for his testimony) sought to

incriminate Peake, but he also admitted a number of facts inconsistent with Peake’s

involvement.  He admitted that Peake authorized lower, competitive rates and acted

in a competitive manner (id. at 49, 61-63); that Peake sought to introduce a third ship

which would have adversely impacted the conspiracy split (id. at 81-87); that Peake

would not match Horizon’s bunker fuel surcharge increases unless his own analysis

determined the increase was justified (id. at 58-59, 64); and that Peake emphasized the
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need to maintain legality in their TSA arrangements (id. at 66).  See also D.Ex. 150,

173, 182, 183.  Serra’s calendar indicated that the meeting Peake attended was to

discuss the non-conspiratorial TSA, D.E.182 at 74, and there were many emails from

around the time of the meeting (and at other times) regarding the TSA (supporting

Peake’s argument that the meeting was legal and not conspiratorial).  Id. at 71-74;

D.Ex. 174, 76-79, 83-92, 95, 96.

The Government then turned to a series of irrelevant “victim” witnesses whose

testimony was unrelated to any contested issue (given that Peake readily conceded the

existence of a conspiracy affecting interstate commerce).  The Government called –

over objection – a witness from Caribbean Restaurants, the company that owned

numerous Puerto Rican Burger Kings, and used the witness to emphasize that Burger

King prices were affected by the conspiracy. D.E.157 at 95-97.

The Government also called, over vigorous defense objection, a representative

of the U.S. Department of Agriculture named Ron Reynolds, who also had no

knowledge of Peake’s involvement in the conspiracy.  The Government represented

that the purpose of the witness was merely to establish that the USDA was provided

shipping rates on a take-it-or-leave-it basis (itself an undisputed and irrelevant point).

The Government expressly promised that if Reynolds was permitted to testify, the

Government “would not go into the effect on school lunch prices.”  D.E.179 at 103.
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The defense argued that the Government sought to use Reynolds to prejudice the jury

with “a thinly veiled attempt to pull at the heart strings again, to talk about price

effects for Puerto Ricans, talk about school lunches.” Id.

Based on the Government’s representation that Reynolds’ testimony would be

brief and would not include reference to the prices of school lunches, the court

permitted Reynolds’ testimony.  Yet the Government asked only three questions

related to the  take-it-or-leave-it nature of the contract, which was the alleged purpose

of the testimony.  Most of Reynolds’s testimony was focused on irrelevant and highly

prejudicial questioning regarding the types of everyday products that were imported

by the USDA, D.E.179 at 107-109, and the effect of high shipping prices on the

school lunch program – the very topic the Government had promised not to address.

The Government asked at least ten questions directly geared to elicit that the

conspiracy resulted in higher prices for school lunches. Id. at 114-118.  The

Government capped off this inquiry with a number of irrelevant questions to elicit that

the conspiracy also affected the availability of food for low income families.  Id. at

118.  The defense objected repeatedly both before and throughout this testimony.

Id. at 102-103, 108, 115-117.

The Government’s other witness was Megan Ballard, a DOJ paralegal

specialist.  Again over defense objection, the Government used Ballard to introduce
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phone records between the conspirators and Peake, including those predating the

indictment period and for conversations which undisputedly were not relevant to the

conspiracy.  D.E.180 at 8-12.  Also over defense objection, the Government admitted

through Ballard a prejudicial exhibit summarizing Peake’s compensation.  D.E.162,

D.E.170; D.E.179 at 121-122, 126-130; D.E.180 at 4, 32-35; G.Ex. 283.

The defense introduced a number of exhibits and did not call any witnesses. 

Jury Deliberations and Verdict

The jury began deliberating late on a Friday afternoon (January 25).  The jury

returned on Monday and issued several notes, including two indicating that they were

hung.  In the second such note, the jury indicated that it had reached a “final” non-

unanimous verdict.  Nonetheless, the district judge sent the jury back to continue

deliberating without any further guidance.  The next day, on January 29, 2013, the

jury found Peake guilty of the Indictment’s sole count.  D.E.189.

New Trial Motion

On March 4, 2013, Peake moved for a judgment of acquittal or new trial.

D.E.193, 199.  The Government objected, D.E. 211, and the motion was denied.  Add

1.
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The Sentencing

The Presentence Investigation Report noted the statutory maximum of ten years,

and recommended imprisonment of 87 to 108 months based on an offense level of 29.

Appx-S 55. 

Peake filed objections to the PSR (D.E.207, 224), and submitted a Sentencing

Memorandum detailing his many positive characteristics and the overwhelming

admiration and support of his friends and family.  D.E.216.  He filed more than 40

character letters uniformly attesting to his strength of character.  As one letter stated,

“I spent a great deal of time in private with Frank both professionally and socially and

found him to be one of the finest men I have ever met.” D.E.217.  Numerous respected

and distinguished individuals emphasized their admiration for Peake and discussed

his numerous positive qualities. Id.

Peake also demonstrated that he acted at all times only for the good of his

company, his employees, and his industry, and not out of any self-interest.  He did not

receive a higher salary or bigger bonus during the years of the conspiracy.  In fact, he

agreed to a reduced salary for 2007 and 2008 and worked tirelessly on capital

improvements for Sea Star, substantially decreasing his bonuses.  D.E.239 at 50;

D.E.216 at 17.
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The district court conducted a sentencing hearing on December 6, 2013.  Peake

was sentenced to a prison term of 60 months, followed by three years of supervised

release, and a $25,000 fine.  D.E.234.  This 5 year sentence is the highest antitrust

sentence in the history of the United States.  Pending the results of this appeal, Peake

remains out on bond.

Second Motion for New Trial

Nearly eight months after trial, the Government revealed that it had failed to

produce a lengthy exculpating audio tape made by a government informant named

William Stallings.  This informant, the former head of sales at Sea Star and the

individual who had initiated the government investigation in the first instance, was not

called by the Government in Peake’s case.  The defense also declined to call him but

did so without the benefit of this key piece of exculpatory evidence.

Upon receipt of the recording, Peake moved for a new trial based on the

Government’s failure to produce this Brady material.  D.E.209. The Government

responded, D.E.211, and the district court denied the motion without a hearing.  Add

1.
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Third Motion for New Trial

Several months later, Peake’s counsel discovered that on January 15, 2013, –

at the very same time it was trying the case against Peake – the United States had filed

under seal a Qui Tam action against Sea Star and Horizon through William Stallings.

Despite its obvious relevance, the Government did not disclose this action to the

defense or the district court.

As a result of this discovery more than a year after trial, Peake filed a third

motion for new trial, D.E.246, which is pending before the district court. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the prejudicial effect of all errors in the aggregate, and

should reverse where the cumulative effect of the errors is not harmless even if the

individual errors are harmless in themselves.  United States v. Sepulveda, 15 F.3d

1161, 1195-96 (1st Cir. 1993); United States v. Dwyer, 843 F.2d 60, 65 (1st Cir.

1988).  The Government has the burden of establishing the harmlessness of the

cumulative errors, and must show that it is “highly probable that the error did not

influence the verdict.” United States v. Sanabria, 645 F.3d 505, 516-19 (1st Cir.

2011) (internal quotation omitted).

The district court’s denial of Peake’s motion for change of venue is reviewed

for abuse of discretion.  United States v. Walker, 665 F.3d 212, 222  (1st Cir. 2011).

The district court’s evidentiary decisions are reviewed for abuse of discretion, United

States v. Brooks, 145 F.3d 446, 454 (1st Cir. 1988), and are appropriate for reversal

where, inter alia, there were no findings on prejudice and probativeness.  Id. at 454-

55; Rubert-Torres v. Hospital San Pablo, Inc., 205 F.3d 472, 479 (1st Cir. 2000).  The

district court’s denial of Peake’s motions for mistrial are reviewed for abuse of

discretion. United States v. Bradshaw, 281 F.3d 278, 284 (1st Cir. 2002).
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The district court’s determination that the Government did not exceed the scope

of the search warrant is reviewed de novo. United States v. Fagan, 577 F.3d 10, 13

(1st Cir. 2009).

The district court's refusal to give Peake’s requested theory of defense

instruction is reviewed de novo. United States v. Baird, 712 F.3d 623, 627-28 (1st

Cir. 2013); United States v. Earle, 488 F.3d 537, 546 (1st Cir. 2007).

The district court’s failure either to declare a mistrial or to provide additional

guidance to the jury after it indicated it was hung should be reviewed for abuse of

discretion. United States v. McIntosh, 380 F.3d 548 (1st Cir. 2004); United States v.

Vanvliet, 542 F.3d 259, 266 (1st Cir. 2008).

This Court reviews de novo the district court’s interpretation and application of

the Sentencing Guidelines. United States v. Stoupis, 530 F.3d 82, 84 (1st Cir. 2008).

It reviews underlying factual findings for clear error.  Id. See also United States v.

SKW Metals & Alloys, Inc., 195 F.3d 83, 89 (2nd Cir. 1999) (“We review the district

court’s interpretation of the ‘volume of commerce’ enhancement provision of the

Sentencing Guidelines de novo.”).
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Frank Peake’s trial was fundamentally flawed, depriving him of the opportunity

to prove his innocence of the charges against him.  

First, the district court erred in denying Peake’s motion for change of venue,

and then permitting the Government to emphasize, over and over, that the jurors and

their families were the victims of the very conspiracy for which Peake was being tried.

From the first words out of the Government’s mouth in Opening, all the way to the

end of the trial, the Government repeatedly advised the jury that they paid more for

practically everything they purchased as a result of this conspiracy.  It called witnesses

to testify that hamburgers at Burger King cost more, and that there was less money for

disadvantaged children’s school lunches because of the conspiracy.  As a result of this

improper and entirely irrelevant evidence and argument, Peake was deprived of his

right to be tried in an impartial venue.

Second, the district court erred in permitting the Government to introduce

evidence obtained from an unauthorized search and seizure of Peake’s personal

computer and cell phone.  At the beginning of its investigation, the Government

sought a search warrant that would have authorized the search of these items, but the

issuing magistrate expressly excluded them from the scope of the search.  The

Government seized them anyway and surreptitiously made copies.  Years later, it
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obtained a new warrant from a judge in another district and then reviewed and utilized

documents taken from Peake’s personal electronics against him at trial.  These actions

violated Peake’s constitutional rights and necessitate a new trial.

Third, the district court erred in denying Peake a theory of defense instruction.

The basis for the district court’s ruling was not that Peake’s proposed instruction was

somehow deficient, but that Peake was not entitled to any theory of defense

instruction because he declined to testify and because his counsel was permitted to

argue his theory of defense in closing.  This is an incorrect statement of the law, and

violated Peake’s Fifth Amendment rights.

Fourth, the district court erred in failing to either declare a mistrial or provide

adequate guidance to the jury after the jury declared it was deadlocked.  The jury sent

two notes indicating it was deadlocked, the second of which made clear that the jurors

had given their “final individual verdict[s].”  Rather than providing the guidance

required under First Circuit precedent, the district court merely sent them back to

continue deliberating, and they subsequently convicted.  The district court’s failure

to provide the three elements of required guidance necessitates a new trial.

Fifth, the Government has not alleged or demonstrated an essential element of

a Section 1 Sherman Act violation, which prohibits conspiracies in restraint of trade

or commerce “among the several States.”  Because Puerto Rico is not a State, the case
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must be dismissed.

Sixth, the district court erred in applying an excessively high volume of

commerce enhancement.  The district court improperly included in its calculation

commerce that was not affected by the violation or attributable to the defendant.
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ARGUMENT

I. PEAKE SHOULD BE GRANTED A NEW TRIAL DUE TO THE
DISTRICT COURT’S FAILURE TO TRANSFER VENUE AND THE
GOVERNMENT’S REPEATED EMPHASIS OF IMPROPER
EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT THAT THE CONSPIRACY HAD A
HARMFUL EFFECT ON THE JURORS THEMSELVES.

Peake should be granted a new trial because the proceedings were infected by

irrelevant and unduly prejudicial arguments that improperly biased the jury against

him, in a venue in which such arguments were especially prejudicial.

After the Government revealed in response to Peake’s Rule 21(b) motion that

it intended to focus on the irrelevant fact that the conspiracy affected the prices that

countless Puerto Ricans paid for everyday consumer items, Peake moved for a transfer

of venue under Rule 21(a).  In response, the Government argued that because there

was no evidence of adverse pretrial publicity, the “general consumer interest of the

prospective jurors” was not a basis to transfer the case. D.E.56 at 6.  It also assured

the district court that it would not appeal to the jurors as victims. Id. at 5.

But as it played out, “harm to end consumers” was the theme of the

Government’s case.  The Government affirmatively and by design highlighted to the

jury, over and over again, that the conspiracy had a direct negative effect on them and

everyone they knew in Puerto Rico.  Indeed, the Government’s first words to the jury

in its Opening laid bare the Government’s plan to bias the jury against Peake, and the
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Government followed up with repeated focus on the conspiracy and its effect on the

jurors and their families: 

• Opening line: “Ladies and Gentlemen, shipping is very important in
Puerto Rico. . . . Most consumer goods travel to Puerto Rico from the
shipping lanes of Jacksonville, Florida, Elizabeth, New Jersey, and
Houston, Texas.  Food for Pueblo supermarkets, medicine at Walgreens,
most things at Walmart.  Most things made in Puerto Rico for sale in the
states travel through those same shipping lanes, things like
pharmaceuticals, electronics and rum.”  D.E.239 at 18.

• “It was so significant that it affected billions of dollars of freight to and
from Puerto Rico.  Billions of dollars.  This case is about Puerto Rico
because the conspiracy affected so much of what is sold here and what
is exported from here.” Id. at 20.

• “Congress passed the Sherman Act because it was so concerned that
consumers need to buy things to feed and clothe their families. ... They
[consumers] try to get the best price for what they buy, especially in
times when money is tight.”  Id.

“You will hear instead that they were the victims of price fixing and they
were paying more because of it.  Businesses like Burger King, Office
Max and Walgreens, businesses that have stores all over Puerto Rico,
they were all paying more than they should have to ship freight to Puerto
Rico because Sea Star and Horizon were conspiring, not competing.”
Id. at 21 (emphasis added)

“You will hear from a witness . . . who owns all the Burger Kings in
Puerto Rico.  He will tell you that the shipping costs are factored into the
costs of the whoppers sold at Burger King.” Id. at 25.

“[T]here will be evidence that the government used the shipping
companies to ship food for the school lunch program.  The federal
program gives free and reduced price lunches to families who can't
afford to pay for their lunches.  You will hear from the Department of
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Agriculture, USDA which will tell you that paying more for shipping
meant that the government had less money in the school lunch program
to buy food for school children.” Id. at 26 (emphasis added).

None of this was relevant to the Government’s case against Peake, as the

district court acknowledged when it stated that the Government’s references to school

lunches were “really way out of bounds.”  D.E.157 at 100.  It was entirely unnecessary

ever to reference the names of the particular consumer companies who shipped with

Sea Star, much less to emphasize that the conspiracy raised prices for end consumers

of these companies.  The Government successfully moved in limine to prohibit Peake

from referencing in any way that prices were reasonable, fair, or competitive, which

prohibition should have precluded the Government from arguing the opposite.

D.E.103.  Yet in the face of these unmistakably improper arguments, the district court

denied Peake’s motion for a mistrial. Id. at 49; D.E.153, 161; Add 72. 

Thus emboldened, the Government carried on with these improper arguments

throughout the trial, simply ignoring its promise not to play the consumer card.  With

its conspirator witnesses, it brought out the names of popular consumer companies

affected by the conspiracy in contexts not relevant to the elements of the charge.  See,

e.g., D.E.154 at 30; D.E.155 at 23, 32, 55 (eliciting from Glova the examples of
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Walmart, Walgreens, the military, and Burger King,4 and emphasizing that the

shipping containers held products destined for these stores); D.E.157 at 164 (eliciting

from Baci the names of Walmart, Walgreens, Bacardi, and Johnson and Johnson along

with two lesser-known companies). By contrast, the Government largely ignored the

names of the many customers which would not have resonated with jurors, such as

New Penn, Lynden, Arrowpac, Eaton Cutler, Western Hay, Magic Transport, and

Flexitank.

Neither did the Government choose “victim” witnesses from these less well-

known companies.  Instead, it chose one witness designed to pull at the jury’s pockets

and one at its heartstrings.  First, it called Gabriel Lafitte, a former executive who

purchased for Burger Kings in Puerto Rico.  D.E.157 at 107.  Mr. Lafitte had no

knowledge of Peake’s alleged involvement in the conspiracy.  Instead, the

Government asked him about Burger King’s menu items, the large number of Puerto

Ricans employed by Burger King, and the fact that Burger King’s prices were higher

as a result of the conspiracy.  Multiple defense objections to this testimony were

overruled.  D.E.157 at 95-97, 103-105, 108, 114, 116.
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As its second “victim” witness, the Government called – also over objection –

a witness from the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), who also had

little if anything to offer of relevance.  Peake argued that it would be improper for this

witness to testify about the effect of the conspiracy on school lunch prices, and that

this was the Government’s true purpose – indeed, its only purpose – in calling the

witness.  But the Government assured the court that it “wouldn’t go into the effect on

school lunch prices.”  D.E.179 at 103.  With this assurance, the court allowed the

Government to call the witness.  Yet despite its promises, the Government very much

did go into the effect on school lunch prices, asking the following questions:

“You mentioned that the USDA has a need to transport goods to Puerto
Rico and you mentioned some programs and one of those programs you
mentioned was the school lunch program?” 

“Does the USDA purchase food for the school luncheon program?” 

(Again) “Does the USDA purchase food for the school lunch program?”

“Does the USDA arrange for transportation for food of the school lunch
program?”  

“And does the USDA receive funds to purchase the food for school
lunch programs?” 

(Again) “Does the USDA receive funds to purchase food for the school
lunch program?” 

“Does the USDA ever receive separate funding to arrange for the
transportation of that program?” 
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“From 2003 to 2008, was food for the school lunch program transported
from the states, from Jacksonville to Puerto Rico, with a transport on
ships operated by Sea Star and Horizon?” 

“Was food for the school lunch program transported from Jacksonville,
Florida to San Juan, Puerto Rico on ships operated by Sea Star and
Horizon?”

Id. at 114-117.  This examination, in the face of the Government’s express promise

not to address the effect of the conspiracy on school lunch prices, was wholly

inappropriate and unduly prejudicial.  The Government then went on to emphasize the

adverse effect on another sympathetic government program:

Q. Were there other programs that the USDA purchased food for?

A. Yes, there is also the food assistance to low income families, which is
administered by the Puerto Rican Department of the Family.

Q. And did the USDA arrange for transportation of food for that program
from Jacksonville to Puerto Rico?

A. Yes, it did.

Q. Did food for that program, was it transported on ships operated by Sea
Star and Horizon? 

A. Yes, it was.

Id. at 118.  Peake objected throughout and renewed his motion for mistrial.  D.E.157

at 167.

Contrary to the promises it made the district court, the Government expressly
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alleged that the conspiracy directly affected the consumer prices paid by the citizens

of Puerto Rico on nearly every consumer good.  The issue went beyond the

Government merely wanting the jury to identify with the victims of the “Puerto Rico

conspiracy,” which itself is strictly prohibited.  See, e.g., Granfeld v. CSX Transp.,

Inc., 597 F.3d 474, 491 (1st Cir. 2010); Whitehead v. Food Max of Mississippi, 163

F.3d 265, 278 (5th Cir. 1998).  Instead, the Government told the jury that it was the

victim of the conspiracy.  This was one of the fundamental themes of the

Government’s case and thus that much more harmful.  United States v. Aguilar-

Aranceta, 58 F.3d 796, 801-02  (1st Cir. 1995).

The harm of this testimony was compounded still further by the fact that the

defense was prevented from countering the Government’s evidence regarding higher

consumer prices with available evidence to the contrary.  Before trial, the Government

successfully moved in limine for an order barring the defense from introducing any

evidence that prices were “reasonable, fair or competitive,” arguing that such evidence

was irrelevant. D.E.103, 128.  Although the district court’s ruling was incorrect, the

defense abided by it.  The Government, by contrast, did not – instead introducing back

door pseudo-expert testimony on the price effect of the conspiracy (e.g., D.E.157 at

147, 151, 164) which should have been barred consistent with the court’s pretrial
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order.5

Moreover, Peake should have been tried in an impartial venue in which the

jurors called upon to decide his fate were not victims of the very conspiracy in which

he allegedly participated.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 21(a) (providing that “[a] court must

transfer the proceeding . . . to another district if the court is satisfied that so great a

prejudice against the defendant exists in the transferring district that the defendant

cannot obtain a fair and impartial trial there.”). See also United States v. Greer, 285

F.3d 158, 172 (2d Cir. 2000) (providing that bias is automatically presumed, and

jurors must be mandatorily removed, when the jurors were victims of the alleged

crime itself); United States v. Torres, 128 F.3d 38, 45 (2d Cir. 1997) (holding that

disqualification is mandatory when jurors are victims of the alleged crime). See also

United States v. Polichemi, 219 F. 3d 698, 704 (7th Cir. 2000) (Jurors must be

excused for cause “if the juror has even a tiny financial interest in the case.”).  In the

relatively unique circumstances of this case, the district court’s failure to grant a

change of venue was an abuse of discretion.

Even if venue in Puerto Rico was appropriate, these over-the-top inappropriate

appeals to sympathy and bias should never have occurred in any venue.  They had no
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relevance whatsoever to the case against Peake, which turned – solely – on the

question of whether Peake was a member of the conspiracy that unquestionably

existed among others.  This evidence (and the Government’s accompanying argument)

should have been excluded pursuant to Federal Rules of Evidence 402 and 403.  See

United States v. Levy-Cordero, 67 F.3d 1002, 1016 (1st Cir. 1995) (finding evidence

not relevant and therefore inadmissible under rule 402); Aguilar-Aranceta, 58 F.3d at

800-01 (reversing under Rule 403 where limited probative value of evidence was

overshadowed by danger of unfair prejudice).

The Government should not have made any reference to the effect of the

conspiracy on the jurors, made unnecessary references to the consumer companies

affected by the conspiracy, or elicited irrelevant and prejudicial testimony from

witnesses. See, e.g., Granfeld, 597 F.3d at 491.  Prosecutorial efforts to appeal to

jurors as victims of the crime on trial have been denounced for decades by federal

courts. Viereck v. United States, 318 U.S. 236, 247 & n.3. (1943).  For example, in

Boyle v. Million, 201 F.3d 711 (6th Cir. 2000), the Sixth Circuit condemned the

prosecutor’s misconduct in appealing to juror bias, including the “prosecutor’s efforts

to equate the jurors with the defendant’s victim.”  Id. at 717-18.

Similarly, a juror also cannot be asked, directly or indirectly, to “put itself in the

shoes of a plaintiff,” as “[t]his so-called Golden Rule argument has been universally
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condemned because it encourages the jury to depart from neutrality and to decide the

case on the basis of personal interest and bias rather than on the evidence.” Forrestal

v. Magendantz, 848 F.2d 303, 309 (1st Cir. 1988).  Likewise, juror appeals to

regionalism are improper.  See, e.g., Pappas v. Middle Earth Condominium Ass’n, 963

F.2d 534, 540 (2d Cir. 1992) (counsel’s appeal to regional bias warrants new trial).

This evidence, and corresponding Government argument, was a textbook example of

the “unfair prejudice” contemplated by Rule 403 – that having an “undue tendency to

suggest decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily an

emotional one.”  Fed. R. Evid. 403, Advisory Committee Notes.  See also United

States v. Varoudakis, 233 F.3d 115, 122 (1st Cir. 2000) (“Courts use the term ‘unfair

prejudice’ for evidence that invites the jury to render a verdict on an improper

emotional basis.”). 

This not a case in which deference must be given to a district court’s balancing

under Rule 403, as the district court never conducted such an analysis in the first

instance.  The district court did not balance the (nonexistent) relevance of this

evidence against the potential prejudice and conclude that relevance won out.  It never

had to, despite Peake’s objections, because the Government conceded the

inadmissibility. The district court allowed the testimony based on the Government’s

assurances it would not elicit the prejudicial testimony and would not appeal to bias,
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e.g. D.E.56, D.E.179 at 103, but the Government went on to do exactly that.  E.g.

D.E.179 at 107-09, 114-18.  The Government never offered a single explanation as

to how this evidence was relevant.

The district court declined to grant a new trial as a result of this issue, but even

after the fact the district court did not make a finding that the relevance of the

Government’s evidence outweighed any undue prejudice.  Instead, the district court’s

post-trial order blinks reality, offering a recitation of the Government’s evidence and

argument that is squarely contradicted by the evidence:

The Government did not infer that those higher prices were passed onto
the victims’ customers, the general populace of Puerto Rico, in a
secondary manner. Simply, the United States did not argue that
hamburgers and paperclips cost more as a result of the conspiracy.
Similarly, while the United States did present evidence that the U.S.
Department of Agriculture paid higher food prices for the school lunch
program as a result of the conspiracy, the Government did not argue that
school children paid higher milk prices or went without milk as a result
of the conspiracy.

D.E.228 at 19.

 The district court’s recollection is inaccurate.  The Government unquestionably

did not only infer but very expressly state that higher prices were passed on to the

consumer (for burgers in particular) and did very expressly argue that school children

went without milk.  E.g., D.E.239 at 25 (“He will tell you that the shipping costs are

factored into the costs of the whoppers at Burger King.”); id. at 20 (“This case is about
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Puerto Rico because the conspiracy affected so much of what is sold here and what

is exported from here.”); id. at 26 (“You will hear ... that paying more for shipping

meant that the government had less money in the school lunch program to buy food

for school children.”).

In light of the direct conflict with the record evidence, the district court’s

recitation of the evidence should be entitled no deference, and in any event the district

court’s conclusion regarding the Government’s argument is clearly erroneous under

any standard.  As this Court has stated, “Whether a fact tends to make another fact

more or less likely depends heavily on the logic of the connection, and there is no

‘discretion’ to ignore a logical relationship.”  United States v. Amaya-Manz Angres,

377 F.3d 39, 44 (1st Cir. 2004).  See also United States v. Stephens, 514 F.3d 703, 712

(7th Cir. 2008) (“[W]e cannot defer to a district court decision that ignores material

portions of the record without explanation.”); Blankenship v. United States, 159 F.3d

336, 339 (8th Cir. 1998) (“The district court did not have discretion to ignore the

existing record.”); Leclaire v. Blackstone Valley Elec. Co., 104 F.3d 348, at *3 (1st

Cir. 1996) (unpublished) (“While the district court (and this court on review) must

view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant, the analysis does not

necessitate the complete disregard of uncontroverted evidence that happens to be

unfavorable to that party.”).
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Neither was the harm cured by the district court’s instructions.  The district

court excused the import of any potential harm by pointing to the curative instructions

it gave to the jury in which it instructed the jury that it was not to decide the case

based on “pity and sympathy.”  D.E.157 at 102.  Indeed, the district court judge

recognized at several turns that the government’s actions were improper, but its efforts

to cure the problem were insufficient. see, e.g., id. at 100 (“That gives the impression

that the children are affected, you, know, and that is really out of bounds. . . .  That is

really way out of bounds.”), 171 (“It is one thing to say . . .  this case comes to Puerto

Rico.  It is another thing to say that the United States should be able to exploit

arguments and exploit emotion and sympathy.”).  Given the direct and substantial

prejudice caused by the Government’s argument, which went to the very core of the

jury’s impartiality towards Peake, the curative instructions were inadequate to address

the harm. See, e.g., Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 132 (1968) (noting that

limiting instructions are not always sufficient).  

The Government’s repeated evidence and arguments are precisely the kind of

explicit prejudicial material that the jury cannot “possibly be expected to forget [] in

assessing the defendant’s guilt,” especially given that this material was pervasive and

constituted one of the Government’s primary themes.  Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S.

200, 206-208 (1987);  Bruton, 391 U.S. at 126 (reversing conviction despite
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instruction to jury because of the substantial risk that the jury would consider

improper statements);  United States v. Ayala-Garcia, 574 F.3d 5, 21-22 (1st Cir.

2009) (reversing for improper arguments by prosecution despite instruction to

disregard); Blake v. Pellegrino, 329 F.3d 43, 50 (1st Cir. 2003) (reversing where

curative instructions insufficient to address improper evidence); United States v.

Sepulveda, 15 F.3d 1161, 1185 (1st Cir. 1993) (presumption that jurors follow

curative instructions endures only until it “appears probable that, in a particular case,

responsible jurors will not be able to put the testimony to one side, and, moreover, that

the testimony will likely be seriously prejudicial to the aggrieved party.”); United

States v. Perocier, 2010 WL 339046 at *4 (D.P.R. 2010) (finding that curative

instruction would not be enough to cure the prejudicial effect of evidence).  Here, the

pervasive repetition of the government’s prejudicial theme could not be cured by the

court’s curative instructions.

Because none of the jurors were disinterested, Peake was denied his

constitutionally-guaranteed fair trial.  Estrada v. Scribner, 512 F.3d 1227, 1239-40

(9th Cir. 2008); United States v. Sampson, 2011 WL 5022335, *1 & *6 (D. Mass.

October 20, 2011).  Under the facts of this close case, in which the improper evidence

and arguments were pervasive and the jury twice indicated it was hung, there can be

no “‘fair assurance’ that the result would have been the same absent the improper
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statements,” and the conviction must therefore be reversed.  Ayala-Garcia, 574 F.3d

at 21-22.  The panel was irreparably tainted by the Government’s actions.

II. PEAKE SHOULD BE GRANTED A NEW TRIAL DUE TO THE
GOVERNMENT’S USE OF DOCUMENTS OBTAINED FROM THE
ILLEGAL SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF PEAKE’S PERSONAL
ELECTRONICS.

The Government’s introduction of documents obtained from its improper

seizure and imaging of Peake’s personal electronics, which was expressly disallowed

by the Jacksonville search warrant, violated Peake’s constitutional rights and entitles

him to a new trial.  This constitutional violation was not remedied (indeed, the wrong

was compounded) by the Government’s improper end-run to obtain an ex parte

warrant from a different court.

The Fourth Amendment provides that no warrants shall issue except on

probable cause and “particularly describing the . . . persons or things to be seized.”

The particularity requirement “prevents the seizure of one thing under a warrant

describing another. As to what is to be taken, nothing is left to the discretion of the

officer executing the warrant.” Marron v. United States, 275 U.S. 192 (1927). See also

Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476, 485 (1965). 

It is “settled law that the search and seizure conducted under a warrant must

conform to the warrant.” United States v. Upham, 168 F.3d 532, 536 (1st Cir. 1999).
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As a result, the Government may not seize items which have been disallowed by the

judicial officer authorizing the search.  Here, the Government seized Peake’s

blackberry and laptop – items that the Magistrate had expressly excluded from the

scope of the search – and made unauthorized copies of them.  Moreover, the

Government substantially exceeded the 30 day search period permitted by the warrant.

The Government’s seizure and imaging of these items constituted an unreasonable

warrantless search. “Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable . . . subject only to

a few specifically established and well delineated exceptions,” none of which apply

here. United States v. Winston, 444 F.3d 115, 124 (1st Cir. 2006) (quoting Katz v.

United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967)). 

Accordingly, all information gleaned from Peake’s phone and laptop should

have been suppressed.  See United States v. Matias, 836 F.2d 744, 747 (2d Cir. 1988);

see also Riley v. California, __ S. Ct. __, 2014 WL 2864483 (June 25, 2014)

(recognizing substantial privacy concerns implicated by warrantless search of cell

phone).  Yet over Peake’s objection, the Government admitted at least 15 of these ill-

gotten documents, D.E.123, 130, and relied on them to make its case.  See, e.g.,

D.E.240 at 33, 114.  This was improper, as absent a recognized exception (which does

not exist here), the “fruit” of a search exceeding the scope of a warrant should have

been excluded. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484-85 (1963).
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As the district court itself acknowledged, Add 80-81, the Government did not

remedy its violation by obtaining an ex parte warrant over four years after the search,

and long after the 30 day period granted by the warrant. United States v. Ganias, __

F.3d __, 2014 WL 2722618 (2d Cir. June 17, 2014).  In Ganias, the Second Circuit

recently held that the government does not cure a Fourth Amendment violation by

obtaining a second search warrant to search an electronic copy of a computer hard

drive that contains material beyond the scope of the initial warrant pursuant to which

the computer was initially seized.  Id.  The Ganias court correctly found that to permit

the Government to obtain a subsequent warrant to cure its previous warrantless seizure

would decimate the protections afforded by the Fourth Amendment.  Id. at *11 (“If

the Government could seize and retain non-responsive electronic records indefinitely,

so it could search them whenever it later developed probable cause, every warrant to

search for particular electronic data would become, in essence, a general warrant.”).

Even the district court recognized that the subsequent search warrant does not

aid the Government.  In what reads as a veiled warning to the Government, the district

court stated as follows:

It goes without saying that the Government cannot obtain a search
warrant after a search has been executed to justify and constitutional[ly]
insulate that search and seizure.  As sure as the sun will rise in the East,
a warrant after an illegal search fails to cure a defendant’s Fourth
Amendment violation.  This practice would be even more troublesome
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where a second warrant validates the search and seizure of items
previously excluded during an initial search warrant where no pertinent
facts [have] changed. More egregious still, would be if the Government
were to move these items around the country seeking different search
warrants from different Magistrate Judges and Judges that the
Government deemed favorable to them. Such conduct would be gross
forum shopping and simply unjust. While the Court would be outraged
should any of these actions occur, the Court remains confident that that
is not the case at bar.

Add 80.  The basis of the district court’s confidence that “this is not the case at bar”

(which he reached without holding a hearing) is entirely unclear, as the record

establishes that the Government did precisely what the district court indicated would

be “gross forum shopping and simply unjust.”  After seizing and imaging two

electronics expressly excluded from the search by the initial warrant, the Government

held the images for four years and then secretly appeared before a D.C. judge

unfamiliar with the ongoing proceedings, instead of either seeking permission from

the Puerto Rico district judge who at that very moment was deciding on whether the

Government had the right to image the items in the first place, or going to the

Jacksonville judge who had authorized the search initially. 

In litigation below, the Government attempted to justify its forum shopping by

arguing that Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 41(b)(1) supported the use of a

Washington, D.C. magistrate because the ill-gotten copy of Peake’s devices was

located in Washington, D.C. (as a result of the Government’s decision to take it there
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after improperly seizing and imaging it in Jacksonville).  This reasoning is entirely

unavailing.  The property to be searched was located in Jacksonville when seized, and

at the time of the subsequent warrant it was in New Jersey.  The question was not

whether the Government had authority to look at the copy of Peake’s item, it was

whether the Government had authority to make the copy in the first place (and then

retain it for years).  The Government had no such authority, and it should have been

the Jacksonville judge, or the Puerto Rico judge hearing Peake’s case, who decided

the question.  The Government is not free to select its forum by executing a

warrantless search, taking possession of the defendant’s property, and moving that

property to the forum of its choosing.  Such a procedure would decimate Rule

41(b)(1) and the Fourth Amendment.

Given the Government’s blatant violation of Peake’s constitutional rights,

Peake should be afforded a new trial.

III. PEAKE IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE HE WAS
IMPROPERLY DENIED HIS THEORY OF DEFENSE INSTRUCTION.

Peake was improperly denied his theory of defense instruction.  As the First

Circuit has repeatedly confirmed, “[i]t is a basic tenet of criminal law that a defendant

is entitled to an instruction on his theory of defense.”  United States v. Powers, 702

F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2012).  A theory of defense instruction should be given:
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so long as the theory is a valid one and there is evidence in the record to
support it.  In making this determination, the district court is not allowed
to weigh the evidence, make credibility determinations, or resolve
conflicts in the proof.  Rather, the court’s function is to examine the
evidence on the record and to draw those inferences as can reasonably
be drawn therefrom, determining whether the proof, taken in the light
most favorable to the defense can plausibly support the theory of the
defense.  This is not a very high standard to meet, for in its present
context, to be ‘plausible’ is to be ‘superficially reasonable.’

United States v. Gamache, 156 F.3d 1, 9 (1st Cir. 1998) (citations omitted) (emphasis

in original).

Here, the defense’s legal theory was valid, as the district court acknowledged.

Add 17 (“Peake’s theory that he was not involved in the conspiracy is a legitimate

defense...”).  And the evidence more than “plausibly” supported it.  The proposed

instruction was:

Mr. Peake does not contest that there was a conspiracy that existed
between Gabriel Serra, Kevin Gill, Gregory Glova, and Peter Baci.
Rather, he contends that he did not knowingly and intentionally
participate in this conspiracy and did not knowingly and intentionally
join the conspiracy as a member. Mr. Peake further contends that any
discussions he had with Gabriel Serra were legitimate and competitive
discussions and not anti-competitive conspiracy related.  Mr. Peake also
contends that he was competing with Horizon, including on market share
and price.

Although this is Mr. Peake's defense, the burden always remains on the
government to prove the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable
doubt.  If you do not believe the government has proven beyond a
reasonable doubt that Mr. Peake intentionally and knowingly joined the
conspiracy, you must find him not guilty.
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Add 84-85.

The instruction should have been given, as it was supported by a great deal of

evidence, including numerous documents and testimony from the Government’s own

witnesses.  For example, there was substantial evidence that the key Government

witnesses did not identify Peake as a conspirator in circumstances in which they

would have been expected to do so, both before and after the conspiracy was revealed.

Unlike the other conspirators, Peake was not mentioned in the detailed

contemporaneous journals kept by Baci and Glova. D.E.155 at 168-172; D.E.160 at

155-159; D.E.240 at 53; G.Ex.85.  Peake was not mentioned in Glova’s written

statement prepared on the day of the FBI raid, despite Glova’s mention of the other

conspirators.  D.E.155 at 133-135, 142, 145-147, 150-151.  Peake was not mentioned

in Baci’s Sentencing Memorandum, which described the participants of the conspiracy

in detail.  D.E.179 at 51-56; D.Ex.454.

In support of Peake’s assertions that his communications with competitors were

legitimate, for example, Gabriel Serra testified that there were many appropriate

reasons that he and Peake spoke and met.  See D.E.182 at 71, 75, 77.  Numerous

defense exhibits (including 76-79, 83-92, 95-96) also demonstrated the frequency and

legitimacy of discussions between Peake and Serra.  Gabe Serra was asked about each

of these exhibits during his testimony and acknowledged they were evidence of legal,
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appropriate discussions between competitors. 

Moreover, there is substantial evidence of Frank Peake’s desire to compete

rather than collude with Horizon Lines by taking Horizon’s customers, market share,

and capacity.  For example, Peake was extremely aggressive about putting a third Sea

Star ship into the water, expecting that it would take market share from Horizon.

D.E.182 at 80-83, 103-104; D.Ex.137.  See also D.Ex.113, 127, 137, 140, 141, 142,

146, 149, 150, 159, 160, 164, 167, 168, 169, and 171. This testimony and these

defense exhibits provide sufficient confirmation in the record of Peake’s desire to

compete and his lack of participation in a Florida 50/50 conspiracy agreement.

Accordingly, there was more than sufficient corroboration to back the defense’s

theory that a conspiracy existed among the government’s witnesses, but that the

conspiracy did not include Frank Peake.  The instruction was valid, factually

supported, and should have been given to the jury. Gamache, 156 F.3d at 9.

The Government argued below that Peake was permitted to argue his theory of

defense in his closing argument, thereby resolving the matter. D.E.195 at 16-17. This,

of course, is incorrect.  Peake’s arguments to the jury did not replace or excuse the

court’s failure to provide an instruction required by law.  The Government’s

argument, however, reveals that Peake’s defense was, in fact, adequately supported

by the evidence.  For had there been inadequate evidence to support Peake’s defense,
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he would not have been permitted to argue it in closing.  United States v. Hamie, 165

F.3d 80, 84 (1st Cir. 1999) (closing arguments may not rely on knowledge or evidence

unavailable to the jury); United States v. Lopez Garcia, 672 F.3d 58, 64 (1st Cir.

2012) (counsel is permitted to make arguments that have evidentiary basis).

Recognizing that Peake’s defense was amply supported by the evidence, the

Government instead took the position that because Peake did not testify, he could not

offer any theory of defense instruction.  This was error, and is squarely inconsistent

with First Circuit authority.  See Powers, at 702 F.3d at 9-10; Gamache, 156 F.3d at

9; United States v. Montanez, 105 F.3d 36, 39 (1st Cir. 1997).

At the Government’s misdirected urging, the Court made the blanket finding

that Peake was not entitled to an instruction at all because it was “an invitation to

hearsay and to put into evidence the statement of your client, without sitting your

client.”  D.E.240 at 155-156.  But there is, of course, no requirement that a defendant

must testify in order to present a theory of defense instruction.  This limitation

unquestionably violated Peake’s Fifth Amendment rights.  See Carter v. Kentucky,

450 U.S. 288, 301 (1981) (summarizing well-settled law that a defendant must pay no

court-imposed price for the exercise of his constitutional privilege not to testify).

IV. PEAKE SHOULD BE GRANTED A NEW TRIAL DUE TO ERRORS
DURING JURY DELIBERATIONS.
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The district court erred in failing to either grant a mistrial or provide adequate

guidance to the jury after it indicated it had reached a final verdict and was

deadlocked.  In this Circuit, any supplemental instruction given to a deadlocked jury

regarding continued deliberations must include guidance that advises of the following

three principles: 1) both the majority as well as the minority can reexamine its

position; 2) the government always maintains the burden of proof; and 3) the jury has

the right to fail to agree.  United States v. Angiulo, 485 F.2d 37, 39-40 (1st Cir. 1973).

Here, none of this guidance was provided, and a new trial should be granted.

The jury’s notes make clear that it had reached a final deadlocked verdict.6  On

Monday, January 28, the jury began its second day of deliberations at approximately

9:00am.  At 2:45pm that day, after nearly 6 hours of conferring, the jury sent a note

saying that it could not reach a verdict: “Members of the jury have issued their

respective verdicts.  After discussions and revisions to the evidence we are not able

to reach a unanimous verdict.” Add 90.  This Court sent them back to “continue [their]

deliberations” without any further guidance.  Id. About an hour later, the jury asked

to have transcripts of the trial, but when told of the procedure for acquiring those

transcripts, the jury opted against it.  Add 92; D.E.244 at 3-13.
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The air-conditioning in the building turned off around 6pm, but the Court did

not stop deliberations for the day.  After 10 straight hours of deliberation, the jury sent

another note at 7:15pm saying: “After strong debates and discussions, members of the

jury have expressed a final individual verdict. We are still unable to reach a

unanimous verdict.” D.E.244 at 13-14; Add 93 (emphasis added).  

The defense objected to continued deliberations and requested a mistrial.

D.E.244 at 15-16.  The court denied the motion, stating that it was too soon for a

mistrial.  Id. at 17-18.  This was incorrect.  This Court has held that “[t]here is no per

se minimum period of deliberation that must expire before a mistrial may be declared

on account of a hung jury.”  United States v. McIntosh, 380 F.3d 548, 555 (1st Cir.

2004). See also Renico v. Lett, 559 U.S. 766, 775 (2010) (“And we have never

required a trial judge, before declaring a mistrial based on jury deadlock, to force the

jury to deliberate for a minimum period of time.”).

Instead of declaring a mistrial, the district court sent a note to the jury once

again merely advising to “continue deliberations” without any further guidance at all:
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Add 93.  The judge also advised the lawyers it would consider what additional

instructions to provide in the morning. D.E.244 at 16-17.

Because the air conditioning system malfunctioned the next day, the jury was

sent to a separate courthouse much further away, and did not start its deliberations

until 11:35am.  In chambers, the district judge advised the lawyers (correctly) that if

the jury was at an impasse, it was obligated to give guidance and the cautionary

elements.  Yet the judge failed to do so, and simply ordered the jury to continue

deliberating.7   Less than three hours later, the jury convicted.

This was error.  The jury very clearly indicated, twice, that it was deadlocked.

There was no ambiguity in the jury’s note regarding “a final individual verdict,”

which was provided after a 10-hour deliberation period.  As a result, the district court

was compelled – without discretion – to advise the jury that it was free to not reach

a verdict.  See Angiulo, 485 F.2d at 40 (“[W]henever a jury first informed the court

that it is deadlocked, any supplemental instruction which urges the jury to return to

its deliberations must include the three balancing elements stated above.”) (emphasis
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added); United States v. Hernandez-Albino, 177 F.3d 33, 38 (1st Cir. 1999) (court’s

instruction to jury after it indicated that it was at “an impasse” was error because it did

not explain to the jury that it was free not to reach a verdict); United States v.

Paniagua-Ramos, 135 F.3d 193, 198-99 (1st Cir. 1998) (finding plain error where the

court did not clearly refer to the jury’s right to fail to agree); United States v.

Manning, 79 F.3d 212, 223 (1st Cir. 1996) (reversing where court did not include

three required elements).

This guidance is required to ensure that the jury does not mistakenly believe it

has a duty to achieve unanimity: “Any supplemental instruction in response to a jury's

deadlock can have a significant coercive effect by intimating that some jury members

should capitulate to others' views, or by suggesting that the members should

compromise their rational positions in order to reach an agreement.”  Hernandez-

Albino, 177 F. 3d at 38 (citing Angiulo, 485 F.2d at 39).  See also Jenkins v. United

States, 380 U.S. 445 (1965) (reversing conviction where a judge’s statement to jury

after they declared that they could not reach a verdict had the effect of making the jury

believe that it would not be released until it reached a verdict). 

There simply is no justification for the district court’s failure to provide

guidance.  The district court defended its failure to give the Angiulo guidance as

follows: “This cited case law is applicable to remedy the coercive effects of an Allen
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charge, but it is inapplicable in the present case as no Allen charge was provided.”

Add 11. This is an incorrect statement of the law.  See Angiulo, 485 F.2d at 40;

Paniagua -Ramos, 135 F. 3d at 198-199; Hernandez-Albino, 177 F.30 at 38.8  Not

only an Allen charge, but any supplemental charge to a deadlocked jury (including a

simple charge to continue deliberations) must include the three areas of guidance

required by the First Circuit.  This did not happen, and therefore a new trial must be

ordered. Angiulo, 485 F.2d at 39-40.

V. PEAKE’S CONVICTION SHOULD BE REVERSED AND THE CASE
DISMISSED FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION DUE TO THE FACT
THAT PUERTO RICO IS NOT A STATE.

Because Section One of the Sherman Act prohibits conspiracies only “among

the several States,” and Puerto Rico is not a State, Peake’s conviction must be vacated.

The Government’s case against Peake alleged solely a conspiracy to fix prices in

maritime trade between the continental United States and Puerto Rico. D.E.1 at 1.  Yet

the Indictment did not allege, and the Government did not and cannot establish, that
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Puerto Rico is a State.  Numerous authorities establish that Puerto Rico is not a State.

See, e.g., Igartua v. United States, 626 F.3d 592, 600-601 (1st Cir. 2010); Colon-

Marrero v. Conty-Perez, 703 F.3d 134, 137 (1st Cir. 2012); Herman v. Hector I.

Nieves Transport, 244 F.3d 32 (1st Cir. 2001); United States v. Medina-Ayala, 906 F.

Supp. 2d 20, 22 (D.P.R. 2012).

Accordingly, the Government has not alleged or demonstrated an essential

element of a Section 1 Sherman Act violation, which prohibits conspiracies in restraint

of trade or commerce “among the several States.”  15 U.S.C. §1 (emphasis added).

This is a jurisdictional defect that requires dismissal.9

VI. IF PEAKE’S CONVICTION IS NOT OVERTURNED, HE SHOULD BE
RESENTENCED DUE TO ERROR IN THE APPLICATION OF THE
VOLUME OF COMMERCE GUIDELINE.

The district court improperly applied a 12 level volume of commerce

enhancement pursuant to § 2R1.1(b)(2)(F); PSR at ¶ 68.  This enhancement, which

was the substantial driver of Peake’s sentence, should not have been applied because

there was no reliable and competent evidence that supported the volume of commerce

attributed to Peake.  See, e.g., U.S.S.G. § 6A1.3(a).  In fact, there was no evidence

taken at all.  The court simply adopted the Government’s numbers over the defense’s
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objection, despite the fact that “[w]hen the government seeks to apply an enhancement

under the Sentencing Guidelines over a defendant’s factual objection, it has the burden

of introducing sufficient and reliable evidence to prove the necessary facts by a

preponderance of the evidence.”  United States v. Isaacson,  __ F.3d __, 2014 WL

2119820, at *9 (11th Cir. May 22, 2014) (internal quotation omitted) (reversing and

remanding for failure to introduce adequate evidence in support of sentencing

enhancement); United States v. Washington, 714 F.3d 1358, 1361 (11th Cir. 2013)

(same).

In determining the appropriate guideline range, U.S.S.G. § 2R1.1(b) instructs

the Court to add levels based on “the volume of commerce attributable to the

defendant.” (emphasis added).  This term is defined by the solitary statement that it

is “the volume of commerce done by him or his principal in goods or services that

were affected by the violation.” Id.  Like the term “volume of commerce,” the term

“affected by the violation” is “not defined in the Guidelines, is not used elsewhere in

the Guidelines, is sui generis to the Guidelines in the antitrust context, and is not a

term of art.”  United States v. SKW Metals & Alloys, Inc., 195 F.3d 83, 90 (2d Cir.

1999).

Appellate courts have recognized that the “plain language of the section makes

clear that the volume of commerce includes only those sales ‘affected by the
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violation,’ rather than all sales.” United States v. Andreas, 216 F.3d 645, 676 (7th Cir.

2000) (emphasis in original).  Thus, courts consistently refuse to adopt the

Government’s assertion that all sales made by a defendant are necessarily “affected.”

See, e.g., SKW Metals & Alloys,195 F.3d at 91.  Instead, sales that were unaffected by

the competitor agreement are not counted for sentencing. Andreas, 216 F.3d at 678

(“sales that were entirely unaffected did not harm consumers and therefore should not

be counted for sentencing because they would not reflect the scale or scope of the

offense”); see also United States v. Giordano, 261 F.3d 1134 (11th Cir. 2001); SKW

Metals & Alloys, Inc., 195 F.3d at 91. 

The volume of commerce number applied by the district court was seriously

flawed, as it included both types of excludable commerce:  commerce not attributable

to Peake, and commerce not affected by the conspiracy.   Accordingly, the case should

be remanded for resentencing at which the Government must satisfy its burden to

prove which bids were both affected by the conspiracy and attributable to Frank

Peake.10  In making this showing, the Government must exclude sales in a number of

categories, described further below, including: 1) sales pursuant to contracts signed
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during the time period before Peake joined the conspiracy, 2) sales related to freight

and/or customers excluded from the conspiracy.  

A. The District Court Failed To Exclude Revenues From The Period
Before Peake’s Involvement.

The Indictment charged that Peake participated in the conspiracy “[f]rom at

least as early as late 2005, and continuing until at least April 2008.”  Similarly, the

Government asserted at trial that Peake joined the conspiracy in late 2005.  Likewise,

the district court instructed the jury during trial as follows:

I want you to keep clear that even though it is alleged that the conspiracy
began in 2002, Mr. Peake, there is no evidence that he joined this
conspiracy.  The Court cannot allow evidence before 2005 because it is
charged as to him as early as 2005. 

So he is only responsible, subject to your credibility and your weight,
and keeping in mind that he is presumed innocent and that it is up to the
United States to prove beyond a reasonable doubt his participation
between 2005 and 2008. 

See D.E.180 at 16. Accordingly, the affected commerce “done by him or his principal”

should not have included any Sea Star revenue arising from contracts entered into

before November 2005.  See § 2R1.1(b). 

B. The District Court Failed To Exclude Commerce That Was Not
Affected By The Conspiracy.

The district court also improperly included in its volume of commerce

calculation certain categories of Sea Star revenue that were not “attributable to the
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conspiracy.”

First, the district court included commerce attributable to freight that was not

included within the conspiracy.  Andreas, 216 F.3d at 677 (referencing exclusion of

product lines not within agreement).  Specifically, revenue from non-container freight

should have been excluded, as it unquestionably was not part of the antitrust

agreement.  As part of its ocean transportation service, Sea Star utilized ships that

were capable of carrying all sorts of non-containerized freight.  Horizon only used lift

on/lift off ships, meaning they could only accommodate cargo in containers.  Since

Horizon could not manage the other types of freight (e.g.,liquid cargo, cars, livestock,

construction equipment, and other out-of-container cargo), the companies did not

compete for these loads.  By definition, the companies could not have colluded for

these customers.  This freight was not part of the conspiracy and was expressly

excluded from the supposed Florida 50/50 rule.  See D.E.160 at 106-07.  All revenue

received from shipping non-container freight should have been excluded from the

volume of commerce.

Second, there were 2,634 customers that were never discussed as part of the

antitrust conspiracy.  D.E.207 at 14; D.E.233 (Sentencing Exhibit 1-A); D.E.235 at

53.  These were customers and contracts for whom there was no price-fixing or bid-

rigging.  They were never raised between the companies (or Baci, Gill, Glova, Serra,
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or Peake) and were simply not factors in the conspiracy.  As such, the shipment of

these customers’ products were not the subject of the alleged agreement in this case.

Andreas, 216 F.3d at 677.  These customers account for approximately 80% of the

total customers of Sea Star, and should have been excluded when calculating the

volume of commerce.

Third, Sea Star revenue from bunker fuel surcharges should have been excluded

from the calculation of volume of commerce affected.  As each of the government

cooperating witnesses explained, the bunker fuel surcharge was “designed to recover

the changes of cost on the fuel.”  See, e.g., D.E.180 at 145 (Serra testimony). One of

the most expensive components of shipping is the cost of fuel.  When the cost of fuel

went up, Sea Star passed the rise in cost on to its customer. Id. at 146.  Therefore, even

though the customer may have been paying a higher price for its total shipping service

because of the rising cost of fuel, the surcharge did not result in any profit to the

company.  Had there been no conspiracy, these bunker fuel surcharged would still

have existed.  Consequently, the surcharge should have been excluded from the

volume of commerce.

Fourth, revenues from the Transportation Services Agreements (“TSAs”)

should have been excluded.  At trial, each government cooperating witness testified

that Sea Star and Horizon were customers of each other’s companies through TSAs.
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In effect, the companies bought space on each others’ ships.  Such contracts are

routine among carriers in the ocean transportation business and are entirely lawful.

There is no possibility of collusion because the two companies served as the customer

and shipper with no third party involved.  Consequently, the revenue from these

permissible contracts should have been excluded from the calculation of Peake’s

guidelines.

The district court simply ignored its obligation to calculate the actual volume

of commerce affected by the violation and attributable to Peake, instead accepting the

Government’s substantially inflated number without taking any evidence.  This was

error.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Peake’s conviction and sentence should be vacated

or remanded for a new trial or resentencing.
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